### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## DONALD DAVID DILLBECK,

Appellant,

-vs- CASE NO.: SC02-2044

## STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

### ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT

## SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

### LEON COUNTY

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GEORGE W. BLOW III Florida Bar Number 320501 106 White Avenue, Suite C Live Oak, Florida 32064

Counsel for Appellant

##

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the petitioner in the court below. In this brief he is cited as the Appellant. The appellee, State of Florida, is cited as the State.

The record on appeal consists of a five volume record relating to the post conviction proceedings at issue, including the transcript of the evidentiary hearing. This portion of the record is cited as by reference to volume number and page number. Thus (R4-99) refers to volume 4 page 99 of the record of post conviction proceedings. All pages are machine number stamped at the bottom of the page.

In addition to the post conviction record, the court has been provided with seventeen volumes of transcripts from appellant's original trial. This portion of the record is prefaced by the letter 'T' followed by the page number. Thus (T.3191) refers to page 3191 of the trial transcript. Page number are those assigned by the court reporter in the original transcript and appear in the upper right hand corner of the page.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

## I. <u>Course of Proceedings</u>

Appellant was tried and convicted in the lower court of the offenses of first-degree murder, armed robbery and armed burglary. Defendant was convicted and sentenced to death on the first-degree murder charge and consecutive life sentences on the armed robbery and armed burglary charges. The Defendant timely perfected an appeal from the judgments and sentences directly to the Florida Supreme Court.

This court affirmed the convictions and sentences by its order entered on April 21, 1994. This order was revised on motion for re-hearing denied on August 18, 1994. Thereafter, a petition for writ of certiorari was filed in the United States Supreme Court, and was subsequently denied on March 20, 1995. *Dillbeck v. State*, 643 So.2d 1027 (Fla. 1994), *cert. denied*, 115 S.Ct. 1371 (1995)

On April 23, 1997, the Defendant filed his initial motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to Rule 3.850, Fla.R.Crim.P. (R1-27-62) The motion was subsequently amended (R3-485-531) and an evidentiary hearing on the amended motion for post-conviction relief was held on April 1, 2002. (R4-554-673) On September 3, 2002, the Honorable F.E. Steinmeyer III, entered an order denying

the amended motion to vacate judgment of conviction and sentence. (R4-753-754)

The court recited that the motion was "without grounds for relief and that there would be no benefit from further recitation of the facts or argument by [the] court."

A timely notice of appeal was filed on September 16, 2002. (R5-758-760)

### II. Statement of Facts

Appellant sought post-conviction relief from his convictions for first-degree murder, armed robbery and armed burglary. The principal basis asserted for relief was the ineffectiveness of trial counsel.

Appellant's amended motion enunciated eight allegations in support of a new trial, to-wit:

<u>Claims 1 and 2</u>: Defense counsel's concession of guilt without an express waiver by the Defendant;

<u>Claim 3</u>: Requiring Defendant to wear a physical restraint in the presence of the jury;

<u>Claim 4</u>: Defense counsel's concession of an aggravating factor during the penalty phase;

<u>Claim 5</u>: Trial counsel's failure to conduct a proper voir dire;

<u>Claim 6</u>: Trial counsel's failure to move for change of venue;

Claim 7: Trial counsel's failure to request a PET scan to establish a statutory

mitigating factor;

<u>Claim 8</u>: Trial counsel's introduction of Defendant's previous crimes to the jury during penalty phase.

Defendant's motion sought a new trial.

The trial court afforded the Defendant an evidentiary hearing on all claims submitted. After the evidentiary hearing and permitting counsel to file written memoranda, the court denied all relief.

Although Rule 3.851(f)(5)(D), Fla.R.Crim.P., requires the trial court to enter an order "ruling on each claim considered at the evidentiary hearing...making detailed findings of fact and conclusions of law with respect to each claim..." the trial court's order merely denied the motion with the terse observation that the amended motion "is without grounds for relief and that there would be no benefit from a further recitation of the facts or argument by this court."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Judge Steinmeyer retired shortly thereafter.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The court erred in finding that Appellant's trial counsel did not render ineffective assistance of counsel based any and/or all of the claims put forward in the Defendant's motion. Trial counsel was ineffective in admitting both defendant's guilt as to capital murder and the existence of an aggravating sentencing factor. Likewise, trial counsel was deficient in failing to even attempt to excuse biased jurors and not seeking a change of venue.

#### ARGUMENT AND CITATIONS OF AUTHORITY

I.

DEFENSE COUNSEL'S CONCESSION OF GUILT WITHOUT AN EXPRESS WAIVER BY THE APPELLANT ON THE RECORD CONSTITUTED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL PER SE.

The United States Supreme Court has recognized that counsel has "a duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984). The *Strickland* analysis requires a defendant raising a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel to present findings to meet two elements: the defendant must first show that the attorney's performance was deficient and then show that the deficient performance was prejudicial to the defendant. *Id.* at 687.

Courts have recognized that in order to render reasonably effective assistance, an attorney must present "an intelligent and knowledgeable defense" on behalf of the client. *Caraway v. Beto*, 421 F.2d 636, 637 (5th Cir. 1970). Counsel have been found ineffective for failing to impeach key state witnesses with available evidence; for failing to raise objections, to move to strike or to seek limiting instructions regarding inadmissable prejudicial testimony. *Vela v. Estelle*, 708 F.2d 954, 961-66 (5th Cir. 1983) *cert. denied*, 456 U.S. 949 (1982) (Counsel ineffective for failing to prevent

introduction of evidence of other unrelated crimes); *Pinnel v. Cauthron*, 540 F.2d 938 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1976) (Counsel ineffective for taking actions which resulted in the introduction of evidence of other unrelated crimes committed by the defendant).

One of the primary guarantees of the right to be represented by counsel at trial is to ensure that defense counsel does not abandon his or her client. Representation of the client is a defense attorney's most important function; even though counsel is an officer and representative of the court, he serves only the defendant and must protect the interests of the defendant in their entirety. *Jones v. Barnes*, 463 U.S. 745, 758 (1983) (Brennan, J. dissenting). At trial, defense counsel must do his utmost to make the prosecution prove its case. *United States v. Cronic*, 466 U.S. 648, 657n.19 (1984). In fact, even when the prosecution's case seems infallible and "even when the theory of defense is unavailable, if the decision to stand trial has been made, counsel must hold the prosecutor to its heavy burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt."

If counsel provides effective assistance at trial in some areas, a defendant is entitled to relief if counsel renders ineffective assistance in other portions of trial. *Washington v. Watkins*, 655 F.2d 1346, 1355, *re-hearing denied*, 662 F.2d 1116 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1981) *cert. denied*, 456 U.S. 949 (1982); *see also, Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 477 U.S. 365 (1986). Under certain circumstances even a single error by counsel may

warrant relief where the error is of constitutional dimension. *Nero v. Blackburn*, 597 F.2d 991, 994 (5th Cir. 1979).

Appellant's counsel unequivocally conceded his client's guilt to capital murder at the outset of the guilt phase of the trial. (T.1640). Appellant's trial counsel stated numerous times that Appellant had committed the crime which defense counsel described as a "terrible, brutal crime." (T.1646). During jury selection, opening statement and closing statement trial counsel repeatedly conceded Appellant's guilt to the jury. By conceding guilt without his client's express consent, counsel entered the functional equivalent of a guilty plea without the safeguards required by *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238 (1969), and *Brookhart v. Janis*, 348 U.S. 1 (1966), and, thus, deprived the Appellant of his right to effective assistance of counsel as required by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. *Cronic*, 466 U.S. at 656.

Under *Cronic* an ineffective assistance of counsel claim may arise whenever a criminal trial loses its adversarial nature. "When a true adversarial criminal trial has been conducted - even if defense counsel may have made demonstrable errors - the kind of testing envisioned by the Sixth Amendment has occurred. But if this process loses its character as a confrontation between the adversaries, the constitutional guarantee is violated." *Id.* at 656-57 (footnotes omitted). Moreover, "if counsel

entirely fails to subject the prosecution's case to meaningful adversarial testing, then there has been a denial of Sixth Amendment rights that makes the adversary process itself presumptively unreliable." *Id.* at 659. The United States Supreme Court also noted the adversarial process protected by the Sixth Amendment requires that the accused have "counsel acting in the role of an advocate." *Id.* at 656 *quoting Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738, 743 (1967).

However, unlike a *Strickland* claim for ineffective assistance of counsel, prejudice is not an element of a *Cronic* claim. "There are...circumstances so likely to prejudice the accused that costs of litigating their effect in a particular case is unjustified." *Id.* at 658. Thus, when a court finds that an attorney's performance is so deficient so as to meet the *Cronic* standard, this is held to be per se ineffective assistance of counsel, and the defendant is entitled to relief without any showing of prejudice.

A plea of guilty is a decision reserved solely for a defendant. Trial court's must determine on the record that a factual basis exists supporting a defendant's concession of guilt. *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238, 244 (1969). A defendant must be made well aware of the ramifications, punishments and constitutional rights waived as a result of conceding guilt. *Id.* at 243-44. The record must clearly state that defendant intentionally relinquished these constitutional rights. *Brookhart v. Janis*, 348 U.S. 1,

4 (1966). Trial court's should question a defendant in "an attempt to satisfy itself that a defendant understands the nature of the charges, ...the acts sufficient to constitute the offenses for which he is charged and the permissible range of sentences." *Id.* at 244, n.7(quoting, Commonwealth ex.rel West v. Rundle, 428 PA 102, 105-6, 237 A.2d 197-8 (PA 1968); Koenig v. State, 597 So.2d 256, 258 (Fla. 1992) ("the record must demonstrate "an affirmative showing that the plea was intelligent and voluntary").

Boykin discussed the acceptability and voluntariness of plea bargaining. It did not address what the procedure is when a defense counsel admits a defendant's guilt to a jury. However, the United States Supreme Court has addressed these issues and focused on what occurs when a defendant waives his constitutional right to trial. When "the record does not disclose that the defendant voluntarily and understandingly entered his plea of guilty," reversible error occurs. Boykin, 395 U.S. at 244 (quoting, Boykin v. State, 281 Alabama 659, 653, 207 So.2d 412, 415 (1968)(dissenting opinion in state court where three Alabama Supreme Court Justices questioned the constitutionality of the accepted plea); *Pleas v. State*, 691 So.2d 1143 (Fla. 1st D.C.A. 1997); See also, Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So.2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995) (holding that "because the record...is unclear as to whether [the appellant] was informed of the strategy to concede guilt...[and argue for lesser included offense], "an evidentiary hearing was required on the issue."

Just as when a defendant tenders a plea of guilty to the court and undergoes a searching colloquy to determine the acceptability and voluntariness of that plea, a similar procedure is necessary where defense counsel is admitting defendant's guilt to a jury. Even if defense counsel makes representations to the court that a defendant is aware that counsel will concede guilt, the trial counsel still must obtain an on the record approval from a defendant. Further, "if a trial judge ever suspects that [defense counsel is confessing guilt to the jury], the judge should stop the proceedings and question the defendant on the record as to whether he or she consents to counsel's strategy." *Nixon v. Singletary*, 758 So.2d 618 (Fla. 2000).

Decisional law in this state, as well as other jurisdictions, is clear in holding that a trial court must make factual findings on the record to support a defendant's understanding of defense counsel's strategy and his or her consent to that strategy. *Nixon v. State*, 572 So.2d 1336, 1339 (1990) *citing People v. Hattery*, 488 NE 2d 513 (Ill. 1985), *cert. denied*, 476 U.S. 1123, (1986). Furthermore, even though counsel may hypothesize that admitting guilt is proper, the trial court must ensure that a defendant "unequivocally understands the consequences of the admission" because an attorney may not stipulate to facts which amount to the "functional equivalent of a guilty plea without the defendant's consent." *Taylor v. State*, 695 So.2d 1293, 1295 (Fla. 4th D.C.A. 1997). The United States Circuit Court of Appeal, Sixth Circuit, also

dealt with this issue stating:

Counsel may believe it tactically wise to stipulate to a particular element of a charge or to issues of proof, however, an attorney may not stipulate to facts which amount to the "functional equivalent" of a guilty plea. (citations omitted).

...in those rare cases where counsel advises his client that the latter's guilt should be admitted, the client's knowing consent to such trial strategy must appear outside the presence of the jury on the trial record in the manner consistent with *Boykin*, supra. *Wiley v. Sowders*, 647 F.2d 642, 649-50 (6th Cir. 1981), *cert. denied*, 454 U.S. 1091 (1981).

The record needs to reflect that the defendant has "on the record" affirmatively consented to the defense strategy. *Lobosco v. Thomas*, 928 F.2d 1054, 1057 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1991).

In the instant case, no statements were elicited from the Appellant regarding his understanding nor his consent to his attorney's admission of guilt. On the second day of jury selection, the State requested the trial court establish from the Appellant whether he consented to defense counsel's strategy, because the defense was conceding guilt and informing potential jurors that the Appellant's acts were brutal. (T. 325-326). The defense attorney explained that the Appellant was aware of the strategy, but the record is devoid of any reference to whether the Appellant consented to the strategy. (T. 329). The court noted the Appellant's presence at the earlier voir

dire proceeding, and his failure to object to his attorney's questions. The court also stated "it is inconceivable to me that Mr. Murrell could be accused of being ineffective counsel." (T. 331). The State noted that defense counsel's admission of guilt was the functional equivalent of a guilty plea and some sort of colloquy should have occurred to ensure that the Appellant was aware of and consented to the strategy. However, the trial court declined to conduct such a colloquy.

When the trial commenced, Appellant's counsel told the jury, during opening statements, that his client had killed the alleged victim. Counsel further advised the jury that the only issue during the guilt phase of the trial was whether the Appellant had committed first-degree premeditated murder or felony murder. (T. 1640). Immediately thereafter, *at a bench conference*, the Assistant State Attorney opined to the trial court that the judge should enquire as to whether the Appellant consented to counsel's admission of guilt. (T. 1647). While Appellant's trial attorney stated "I have discussed all of this with my client,", he never explained what he had told the appellant nor that the Appellant had knowingly consented to counsel's strategy. (T. 1648). The trial judge responded that the defense attorney was good and ethical and the strategy was sound given the facts of the case. (T. 1648-1652). All of this discussion took place at a bench conference outside the presence of the defendant. (T.1647).

Once again, the trial court never asked the Appellant any questions and relied

upon defense counsel's representations that he had discussed trial strategy with his client. The trial court, in so doing, ignored the law when it failed to conduct the colloquy, similar to a plea colloquy, that questioned the Appellant's understanding of defense counsel's strategy and his overt approval of the strategy. *See*, *Taylor*, 695 So.2d at 1295. No factual findings were made and the Appellant was never asked, on the record, whether he consented to this strategy. *See*, *Nixon*, 572 So.2d at 1239. Given the possible ramifications of a guilty verdict, the trial court needed to ensure that the Appellant was aware of what was occurring, understood the potential consequences of what was taking place, and knowingly consented to that strategy.

Were the Appellant before the trial court for entry of a plea to the most insignificant of crimes, the trial judge would have been required to establish that Appellant understood that he was waiving his right to a trial, waiving his right to confront witnesses against him and accepting any lawful sentence that could be imposed upon him. *See, Thornton v. State*, 747 So.2d 439, 441 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> D.C.A. 1999). Although during a plea colloquy the defendant's counsel stands at his side, the trial court must nonetheless engage in a dialogue with the defendant directly and not simply with counsel. It is necessary for the trial court to determine that the plea is being entered knowingly and voluntarily by the defendant.

In the case at bar, the trial court was aware that defense counsel was telling the

jury that the Appellant was guilty of a brutal murder, as well as an armed robbery and armed burglary. The trial court found that because Appellant was represented by an attorney that the court deemed to be a good and ethical attorney, it was not necessary to conduct a colloquy directly with the Appellant. Defense counsel's admission of guilt was tantamount to entering a plea of guilty to an offense carrying a potential death penalty, and yet, there was less enquiry of the Appellant regarding his understanding of that tacit plea than would have been required of any other defendant entering a plea to a misdemeanor offense.

In the instant case, Appellant sat silently, while the trial court and the defense attorney discussed Appellant's understanding of what counsel was doing. The first discussion, during voir dire, was in the defendant's presence. However, the second was at a bench conference, outside the presence of the defendant. As defense counsel confessed his client's guilt to virtually every member of the venire during voir dire, and as defense counsel again conceded the Appellant's guilt during opening statement and closing argument, the trial court had an obligation to conduct such an enquiry, because counsel's actions were tantamount to a guilty plea. Due process requires an on the record enquiry directly of the defendant. *See, Boykin; see also, Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806 (1975). Without the trial court's colloquy, there is no evidence that the Appellant knowingly consented to this strategy. Therefore, the

Appellant is entitled to post-conviction relief. See, Boykin, supra.

Appellant testified that his court-appointed attorney had not informed him prior to trial that he would tell each juror "you will find my client guilty,...and that this crime was committed in a particularly brutal manner." (R4-560). At no time did Appellant authorize counsel to concede guilt during either voir dire, opening statements or closing arguments. (R4-562). Appellant never agreed to the strategy of conceding guilt. (R4-562). When the issue was discussed in the defendant's presence (during voir dire), Appellant stood mute. Appellant did so for three reasons. First, he had never been to trial before and he did not know if defense counsel was acting appropriately. (R4-588). Second, he was following the example set by his own attorney of refusing to divulge attorney-client conversations to the court. (R4-327-333). Finally, he believed his attorney to be in control of the matter. (R4-572, 585).

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