IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONALD DAVID DILLBECK,

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC02-2044

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR.
ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300
COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

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

challenge a juror who was initially uncomfortable with reasonable doubt but who stated that he could be fair and impartial and explaining that only where a juror's bias is patent from the face of the record is there prejudice). A juror's doubt as to her own impartiality in voir dire is not equivalent to actual bias. The United States Supreme Court has upheld the impaneling of jurors who doubted, or disclaimed outright, their impartiality in voir dire. In *Patton v. Yount*, 467 U.S. 1025, 1032, 104 S. Ct. 2885, 81 L. Ed. 2d 847 (1984), the Court found no manifest error in seating jurors, who were exposed to pretrial publicity and had, at one time, formed opinions as to guilt. The Court noted that the potential jurors, who retained fixed opinions as to guilt, were disqualified. The actual jurors who served, while initially making ambiguous, and at times contradictory statements, regarding guilt, testified that they could set their opinion aside and decide the case based on the evidence. The *Patton* Court explained that the mere fact that the majority of veniremen remembered the case, without more, was "essentially irrelevant".

While some of the actual jurors here had been exposed to pre-trial publicity, each of them testified that they could lay aside anything they heard outside of court and decide the case based solely upon the evidence they heard in court. Each of the complained about jurors was competent to sit as a juror in this case. Because each of the jurors was competent, trial counsel had no reasonable basis to challenge them. There is no deficient performance for not challenging jurors when there is no legal

basis for doing so. Nor is there any prejudice. Each juror was questioned carefully to discover any potential bias and none was found. Dillbeck has made no showing that any of the jurors who deliberated in this case was actually biased.

Additionally, trial counsel's testimony at the evidentiary hearing establishes that counsel's strategy throughout the entire trial was to avoid a sentence to death. In *Harvey v. Dugger*, 656 So.2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995), this court recognized that attempting to seat jurors likely to recommend a life sentence can constitute a reasonable trial strategy. Harvey argued his counsel was ineffective during voir dire for failing to challenge a juror who stated she could not be impartial because she had read in the newspaper and heard on television that Harvey had confessed to the crime. Harvey's trial counsel, who was an experienced capital trial lawyer, testified at the evidentiary hearing, based on the strong evidence of guilt including Harvey's confession, that there was no chance of obtaining an acquittal. Because the juror at issue, when questioned about her beliefs, had given an answer indicative of her disapproval of the death penalty, Harvey's counsel decided to accept her as a juror and concentrate on the penalty phase of the trial. This Court refused to find counsel ineffective for attempting to seat jurors more likely to recommend life over death.

As in *Harvey*, the trial record, as well as trial counsel's testimony at the evidentiary hearing, establishes that trial counsel's strategy was to seat jurors more likely to recommend a life sentence. As in *Harvey*, trial counsel, here, was an

experienced capital litigator. As in *Harvey*, Dillbeck has made no showing that seating a jury more likely to recommend leniency was not a reasonable trial strategy. Ms. Whitley and Ms. Krell for instance both stated they were probably less likely than the average person to vote for a death sentence. Both Ms. Holcomb and Ms. Tadlock had scruples against imposition of the death penalty. Mr. Marshall and Mr. Zippay, though more middle of the road than jurors Whitley and Krell, had no difficulty in considering a life sentence even in the face of trial counsel's aggravated murder hypotheticals. Likewise, jurors Ussery, Porter, and Davis expressed no reservations about recommending a life sentence if the mitigating circumstances warranted such a recommendation. Thus, the trial court properly denied this claim of ineffectiveness following an evidentiary hearing.

ISSUE IV

DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENY THE CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVENESS FOR FAILING TO FILE A MOTION FOR CHANGE OF VENUE? (Restated)

Dillbeck asserts that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to move for change of venue. The State respectfully disagrees. There is no deficient performance. Trial counsel made a reasonable tactical decision not to file a motion for change of venue. As trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing, Tallahassee is a good place for the defense. Moreover, as trial counsel recognized, if granted a change of venue, the trial would likely to be moved to a location with more conservative jurors which would be more likely to recommend death. Nor is there any prejudice. Any motion for change of venue would have been denied. Motions for change of venue are only granted where there are significant difficulties encountered in attempting to seat a jury. There were no significant difficulties in seating a jury in this case. Therefore, the trial court properly denied the claim of ineffectiveness following an evidentiary hearing.

Trial

The trial judge agreed to trial counsel's request for individualized voir dire to prevent members of the venire from tainting others with any prior knowledge of the case (T. XX 3319). He also agreed to grant any of trial counsel's challenges against jurors who knew about Dillbeck's prior murder conviction (EH. 4 638)

On January 16, 2001, a little over a month before jury selection began, the trial court held a hearing to review with counsel a proposed jury questionnaire. (T. XVII). The court agreed to provide counsel an opportunity to review and provide input to his cover letter that would accompany the questionnaire. The trial judge informed counsel he intended to include a request in the letter that potential jurors avoid reading or listening to anything about the case or the trial. (T. XVII 4). He also informed counsel he would consider sequestering the jury during the trial to shield them from media reports during the course of the trial (T. XX 3322).

Ms. Tadlock, the alternate testified that she "believed Dillbeck had murdered someone else at one time" (T. VII 1059). Foreperson, Elizabeth Hill, testified she read that Dillbeck had committed prior crimes, was on work release, and escaped. She told the prosecutor she did not know the nature of the crime that caused Dillbeck to be incarcerated (T. I 169). Likewise, jurors Brandewie, Davis, Krell, Marshall, Porter, Ussery, Whitley, and Zippay did not know why Dillbeck had been in prison prior to his escape (T. II 199; III 341, 395, 430,448; IV 536; V 742; VI 801, 861; VII 970, 1042). Ms. Canady knew nothing about the crime at all except that a woman was stabbed in her car in Gayfers' parking lot (T. VII 1042). Ms. Rigdon reported that she knew nothing about the case at all except the name of the defendant. She told the prosecutor during voir dire that, at the time of the incident, she was going through a custody battle and was "not concerned with the newspaper." (T. III 448). She reported she

did not watch TV or read the newspaper (T. III 448). Ms. Ayers heard that a black man committed the crime and stated during voir dire that she had heard nothing about the crime from the newspapers or TV. Her only source of knowledge was from a friend who worked at the mall. (T. VI 536).

Evidentiary hearing

Trial counsel, PD Randy Murrell, testified that he did not move for a change of venue. (EH 4 656). He thought about filing a motion but decided against it. (EH 4 656). He did not move for change of venue after jury selection. (EH 4 662). Trial counsel testified that the newspapers reports that he saw were accurate and did not distort the facts. (EH 4 639). He was not concerned about prospective jurors who knew the facts of the crime because that was "all going to come out" during the trial. (EH 4 639). He was concerned because the crime occurred at a popular shopping area where anybody who lives in Tallahassee has been, which could cause the jurors to identify with the victim, but at the same time, Tallahassee is a "good place to try a case from the defense standpoint". (EH 4 641). Trial counsel was also concerned about the place that the case would be transferred to because any other place, other than Gadsden County, in the panhandle you are going to have a "much more conservative jury, a jury much more likely to vote for death". (EH 4 641). Trial counsel testified that "the odds are you are not going to wind up in a place that is better than Tallahassee" (EH 4 641-642). Trial counsel again

explained that he was not concerned about the facts of the case because "all the facts that were in the paper were facts that were going to come out during the trial and noted that this was not a case where the confession had been suppressed but published in the newspapers. (EH 4 642). He was concerned about jurors knowing about the prior murder conviction prior to the guilt phase. (EH 4 642). Trial counsel testified that he did not think he had legally adequate grounds to request a change of venue. (EH 4 642). He was aware that if he had a lot of trouble selecting a jury, he could then request a change of venue after unsuccessfully attempting to empanel a jury. (EH 4 642). He did not think the law supported a change of venue motion and that there was no merit to one, so he did not raise it. (EH 4 643). He was concerned about the murder occurring at Gayfers, a common shopping spot, but he felt he could deal with that. (EH 4 643).

Dillbeck testified that he made only one suggestion to trial counsel and that was asking about a change of venue. (EH 4 580). Dillbeck testified that he wanted a change of venue due to the publicity (EH 4 582). The publicity portrayed him as a serial killer. (EH 4 595). They discussed the pros and cons of a change of venue. (EH 4 581). Dillbeck testified that trial counsel preferred to keep the trial in Tallahassee. (EH 4 581). Trial counsel told Dillbeck that Tallahassee was a "better place" for lenient jurors. (EH 4 581). Trial counsel told Dillbeck that they were more likely to get a more liberal jury pool in Leon County. (EH 4 582). Dillbeck testified that they talked about other places where the case could be tried if they filed for a

change of venue and it was granted including Jacksonville. (EH 4 581).

Forfeiture

There is no record support for the claim that there was extensive and inflammatory pre-trial publicity. IB at 31. Dillbeck, although granted an evidentiary hearing on this claim, did not introduce any newspaper articles reporting the prior murder. Collateral counsel did not attach the newspaper articles that referred to Dillbeck's prior conviction to his initial post-conviction motion nor his amended motion. Nor did he introduce any such articles at the evidentiary hearing. While appellate counsel notes the test for determining whether a change of venue should be granted based on pretrial publicity examines a number of circumstances, he did not supply the trial court with any of this information. *State v. Knight*, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S647 (Fla. August 21, 2003)(explaining that those circumstances include whether the publicity was made up of factual or inflammatory stories or favored the prosecution's side of the story). Neither the trial court nor this Court has sufficient information to address this claim. This issue is forfeited because Dilleck did not sufficiently factually develop this claim at the evidentiary hearing. *Meeks v. Moore*, 216 F.3d 951, 964 (11th Cir. 2000), *cert. denied*, 531 U.S. 1159, 121 S. Ct. 1114, 148 L. Ed. 2d 983 (2001)(finding no evidentiary support for ineffectiveness for failing to file a change of venue claim where collateral counsel

introduced four newspaper articles which were meager and mundane).

Merits

There is no deficient performance. The decision of whether to seek a change of venue is usually considered a matter of trial strategy by counsel, and therefore not generally an issue to be second-guessed on collateral review. *Chandler v. State*, 848 So. 2d 1031, 1037 (Fla. 2003)(citing *Rolling v. State*, 825 So.2d 293, 298 (Fla. 2002)); *Buford v. State*, 492 So. 2d 355, 359 (Fla. 1986)(concluding that trial counsel's failure to move for a change of venue was a tactical decision not subject to collateral attack).

It is not deficient performance to balance the possibility that local jurors will be familiar with the case with the advantage of a liberal jury pool and decide to stay put. *Rolling v. State*, 695 So.2d 278, 285 (Fla. 1997)(rejecting an ineffectiveness claim for failing to move for change of venue where trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that he made an informed tactical decision to initially attempt to have the case tried in Alachua County, notwithstanding the pretrial publicity surrounding the case, based on the view that Alachua County's venire are "more open-minded, more understanding, and more willing to consider life recommendations as opposed to death sentences" than other areas); *Weeks v. Jones*, 26 F.3d 1030, 1046 n.13 (11th Cir. 1994)(rejecting an ineffectiveness claim for failing to move for change of venue, despite the considerable

pretrial publicity, because counsel thought that he still had the best chance for acquittal in that county based on his testimony that the county has a "history of bending over backwards for defendants" and "it's good to practice in if you're a defense lawyer"). It is perfectly reasonable for trial counsel to choose to remain in an area known for its liberal outlook rather than risk a change of venue that is likely to result in the trial being held in an area with a more conservative jury that is more likely to recommend death. As trial counsel testified, if he made a motion for change of venue that was granted, the odds were that he would end up in a worse location. This was a perfectly reasonable trial strategy and therefore, is immune from collateral attack.

Nor is there any prejudice. To prove prejudice, Dillbeck must prove, at least, that the motion would have been granted.²⁷ As

²⁷ *Chandler v. State*, 848 So. 2d 1031, 1034-1037 (Fla. 2003)(rejecting an ineffectiveness claim for failing to file a second motion for change of venue and observing that decision regarding whether to seek a change of venue is usually considered a matter of trial strategy and the defendant did show that there was any difficulty encountered in selecting his jury); *Meeks v. Moore*, 216 F.3d 951, 961-964 (11th Cir. 2000), cert. denied, - U.S. -, 121 S. Ct. 1114, 148 L. Ed. 2d 983 (2001)(rejecting an ineffectiveness claim for failing to move for change of venue where some of jurors were exposed to pretrial publicity which was essentially factual and noting that to establish ineffectiveness, petitioner must show, at a minimum, that the trial court would have or should have granted a change of venue motion which, in turn, requires him to show actual or presumed prejudice on the part of jurors); *Tafoya v. Tansy*, 9 Fed. Appx. 862, 871-872 (10th Cir. 2001)(rejecting a claim of ineffectiveness for failing to move for change of venue where the allegations were of presumed prejudice based on pretrial newspaper articles, because the allegations do not approach the high standard necessary to warrant a change in

trial counsel recognized, there was no legal basis to file a motion for change of venue. If trial counsel had filed a motion for change of venue, the trial court merely would have denied it. If the jurors can assure the court during voir dire that they can be impartial despite their extrinsic knowledge about the case, they are qualified to sit on the jury and a change of venue is not necessary. *Rolling v. State*, 695 So.2d 278, 285 (Fla. 1997). In this case, each of the twelve jurors expressed their belief that they could do so. The jurors who knew anything about the case agreed they could put what they heard outside the courtroom out of their mind and base their decision solely on the evidence presented at trial and the law as it was given to them. (T. II 200; III 341, 395, 430,448; IV 536; V 742; VI 800, 862; VII 970, 1042). While Dillbeck asserts a majority of the seated jurors knew that he had previously been convicted of murder, the true fact is that none of the jurors who deliberated upon Dillbeck's fate did. Furthermore, a motion to change venue is not ripe for resolution until an attempt is made to select a jury. *Henyard v. State*, 689 So.2d 239 (Fla. 1996). Dillbeck's jury was selected with relative ease. Any motion for change of venue would have

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